BATHGATE’s early railway history

(TNA denotes material in the National Archives, Kew)
1849:

Edinburgh & Bathgate (worked from outset by Edinburgh & Glasgow)

Opened to terminal station 12 November 1849.

1850:

Wilstontown, Morningside & Coltness Railway Bathgate extension (soon absorbed by Edinburgh & Glasgow)

Extended eastwards from Longridge to junction with E&G at Bathgate: opened for goods early March 1850 and for passengers soon after BoT approval was granted (following inspection on 27 March (see MT29/9) approval given on 30 March), so probably started early April 1850. At Bathgate trains reversed into/out of E&G station. 

TNA MT29/9:  1850 inspection reports:

Pages 57-59: Report dated 27 March, inspection same date (and also, according to press report, 12 March) by Capt. George Wynne: transcript reads:

“I have the honour … that I have this day inspected the Bathgate branch of the Wilsontown Morningside and Coltness railway which commences at Longridge on the above railway, and joins the Edinburgh & Bathgate railway close to Bathgate, its length is 5 miles 7 furlongs.

“The permanent way is laid single throughout, but the formation level and the works are constructed for a double line.

“The line falls by steep gradients 256 feet from the point where it commences to its junction with the Edinburgh and Bathgate Railway.

“No works of importance occur upon the line, the bridges are all of sufficient strength.

“On the Parliamentary plan this railway is shown to join the “proposed Scottish Central and Caledonian Junction Railway” near Bathgate whereas it actually joins the Edinburgh and Bathgate railway making a deviation for this purpose beyond the Parliamentary limit both in direction and in the radius of the curve, the latter being 15 chains instead of 20 chains radius.

“There are three level crossings of Public Carriage roads which have gates shutting across both the roads and railway, they are all sanctioned by the Special Act.

“I am of opinion that the line may be opened with safety for the conveyance of passengers.

<Wynne then goes on to castigate the capability of the locos on the Edinburgh and Bathgate Railway, which he describes as “now forming a continuation of the line I  have just inspected” [i.e. the WM&C line], and finds the resultant operation of that line unsafe; note that the final words of his text, on page 59 (not photographed), simply read: “of sufficient power to work the steep gradients of the Bathgate and Wilsontown branches.”>

(original report is all that MT6/9/13 contains). 

Report says nothing about where WM&C passenger trains would be dealt with at Bathgate – although it is implied that the E&G and WM&C were an “entity”. 

Scottish Railway Gazette, 23 March 1850, pp. 566/7

“Edinburgh & Bathgate Railway New branch

“We understand that on Tuesday 12th inst. Capt.Wynne RE … went over the extension of the double line of way from Hunston [Houstoun, later Uphall] station to Livingstone station …

“A single line of railway was, about a fortnight since, joined between the Wilsontown Railway and the Bathgate, and minerals are coming down in daily increasing quantities, indeed already far beyond the supply of trucks …<article here mentions parrot coal from Boghead>. All the new works are executed for a double line of rails, but the Wilsontown Railway from Langrigg [Longridge] to Morningside, is a single line …”

Herapath’s Railway & Commercial Journal, 4 May 1850, page 449

Report of Edinburgh & Bathgate special meeting on 13 March (sic) stated inter alia that:

“The branch connecting the Bathgate line with the Wilsontown, Morningside & Coltness Railway had been opened for goods and minerals, and would be opened in a short time for passengers”. [this meeting was the day after Wynne’s first visit to the Bathgate lines].

Official traffic returns for Edinburgh & Glasgow included Wilsontown lines (which it worked) from issue of Scottish Railway Gazette dated 15 June 1850. 

Bradshaw’s Guide for August 1850 is first issue to contain service.

Scottish Railway Gazette, 24 August 1850, page 249

Edinburgh & Glasgow half-yearly report (for meeting following day) contains no mention of opening (either to passengers or goods) of the Wilsontown line, but Report of Engineer dated 19 August 1850 states:

“The works of the Junction Branch from Bathgate to the Wilsontown Railway may be said to be complete, with the exception of some surface finishing.” (Wynne’s 27 March approval for passenger opening notwithstanding!)

Herapath’s Railway & Commercial Journal, 31 August 1850, page 847

in reporting the Edinburgh & Glasgow’s half-yearly meeting of 25 August makes no mention of services.

Falkirk Herald and Stirlingshire Monthly Advertiser contained nothing of relevance during year 1850.

Bradshaw’s Shareholders’ Guide for 1851 (quoted in Quick, page 449) states WMC Bathgate passenger opening was 1 May 1850 (although this hardly seems commensurate with the other references given above).

1852:

Edinburgh & Glasgow (Wilstontown, Morningside & Coltness Railway Bathgate extension)

Passenger service disappeared from Bradshaw’s Guide after December 1852 issue. Line reverted to freight only, until reopened for passengers 19 September 1864 (see below). 

1853:

E&G working and public timetables: first available at National Archives of Scotland are for 1853 (BR/TT/S/59/1): Bathgate line trains are described as “Goods trains carrying passengers”. Wilsontown line has only freight services.

1856:

Monkland Railways Blackston(e) Jn – Bathgate (later Lower) branch

Branch from Blackston(e) Jn opened for goods through Bathgate to junction (later known as Polkemmet Jn) with WM&C and thence westwards to Cowdenhead 11 June 1855; to passengers Blackston(e) Jn to Bathgate (later Lower) only 7 July 1856

TNA MT29/17: 1856 inspection reports:

Page 83: Report dated 27 March, inspection date not shown; Lt.Col. George Wynne: rejected approval of Bo’ness and Bathgate lines (original report is all that MT6/13/23 contains)

Page 138: Report dated 5 May, re-inspection same day by Capt. H W Tyler: neither rejected nor approved (original report is all that MT6/13/41 contains)

Page 127: Follow-up explanation dated 9 May by Tyler – again rejected approval (original at MT6/13/44, plus internal memo castigating Tyler for previous failure to give decision one way or the other)

Page 212: Report dated 6 June, re-inspection same day by Lt.Col. George Wynne: approved opening of Bo’ness branch but still rejected approval of Bathgate branch for want of turntable until assurance received from company chairman that it had been installed (original at MT6/13/51, plus letter from Monkland Railways about signalling at Blackston(e) Jn)

page 245: Report dated 24 June, re-inspection same day by Lt.Col. W Yolland again rejected Bathgate branch (presume original at MT6/13/58)

page 393: Report dated 2 July that in view of statement by chairman of Monkland Railways Company that turntable had been installed, approval could now be given (presume original at MT6/13/62)

Note that no platform exists on 1856 OS map at the site of what later became Upper station. http://maps.nls.uk/os/25inch/view/?sid=74963075#sid=74963075&zoom=3&lat=5783&lon=8344&layers=BT
1862:

Monkland Railways Airdrie – Bathgate Jn (later known as Polkemmet Jn) branch
With completion of extension westwards from Cowdenhead to Airdrie, opened for passengers 11 August 1862. Trains ran to connection with E&G at Bathgate, not to the Monkland’s Bathgate station, to provide connections for Edinburgh. At Bathgate trains reversed into/out of E&G station. 

TNA MT29/237: 1862 inspection reports:

Page 53: Report dated 31 January, inspection date not shown: “…terminates by a junction with the Edinburgh & Glasgow Railway near Bathgate [referred to elsewhere in report as “Bathgate Junction” – this must be what became Polkemmet Jn, for the line thence to Bathgate was the E&G-owned WM&C which already existed thence to Bathgate East Jn] which is … incomplete and has not yet received the sanction of the Edinburgh and Glasgow Company.” Other problems also caused him to decline approval (presume original report is at MT6/25/70)

Page 364: Report dated 4 August, re-inspection date not shown by H W Tyler: opening approved (presume original report is at MT6/26/10)

Airdrie Coatbridge & Wishaw Advertiser, 9 August 1862, page 2:

“Railway accommodation.

“Our readers will be glad to observe from the advertisement in another column that the Monkland Railways Company open their new line on Monday, on and after which the public will have greatly increased facilities for travelling to both Edinburgh and Glasgow. Instead of two trains from Airdrie to Glasgow, as formerly and vice versa, we are now to have five trains daily both ways and instead of being without a train at all to Edinburgh we are now to have two trains daily each way.” <the article continued with a whinge about the perceived faults in the timetable!> 

page 3, advertisement:

“MONKLAND RAILWAYS

On and after Monday the 11th August trains will run as follows:

AIRDRIE Hallcraig Station to BO’NESS and BATHGATE

Trains will not leave
AM
AM
PM
PM

AIRDRIE
before
7.0
-
5.35
-

Rawyards

7.8
-
5.43
-

Arbuckle

7.15
-
5.50
-
<also fare table, 

Slamannan

7.25
-
6.0
-
which makes clear
Avonbridge

7.35
-
6.10
-
Bathgate journeys

   Bathgate

-
7.55
-
6.25
were to/from Airdrie

Bowhouse

7.45
-
6.20
-
not Bo’ness>

Causewayend

8.0
-
6.25
-

BO’NESS

8.15
-
6.40
-

BO’NESS and BATHGATE to Hallcraig Station, AIRDRIE

Trains will not leave
AM
AM
PM
PM

BO’NESS
before
8.35
-
7.0
-

Causewayend

8.50
-
7.15
-

Bowhouse

- (sic)
-
7.20
-

   Bathgate

-
8.50
-
7.15

Avonbridge

9.5
-
7.30
-

Slamannan

9.15
-
7.45
-

Arbuckle

- (sic)
-
8.0
-

Rawyards

9.35
-
8.10
-

AIRDRIE

9.45
-
8.20
-

EDINBURGH AND GLASGOW AND MONKLAND RAILWAYS

AIRDRIE, South Station to EDINBURGH

Trains will not leave
AM
PM

AIRDRIE South Sta. bef.
8.0
4.0

Clarkston

8.5
4.5

Caldercruix

8.15
4.15

Forestfield

8.22
4.22

Westcriags

8.32
4.32

Armadale

8.40
4.40

Bathgate, E&G
arrive
8.50
4.50


depart
9.15
5.0

<fare tables also shown>

Livingstone

9.23
5.8

Houston

9.30
5.15

Broxburn

9.36
5.22

Ratho

9.45
5.30

Gogar

9.52
5.36

Corstorphine

9.57
5.42

EDINBURGH
arrive
10.15
6.0

EDINBURGH to AIRDRIE, South Station

Trains will not leave
AM
PM

EDINBURGH
before
8.0
3.40

Corstorphine

8.10
3.50

Gogar

8.15
3.55

Ratho

8.24
4.2

Broxburn

8.32
4.10

Houston

8.38
4.16

Livingstone

8.45
4.25

Bathgate, E&G
arrive
9.0
4.40


depart
9.5
5.15

Armadale

9.15
5.25

Westcraigs

9.23
5.33

Forestfield

9.33
5.43

Caldercruix

9.40
5.50

Clarkston

9.47
5.57

AIRDRIE South station
9.55
6.10

… <Airdrie – Glasgow connections were also shown – see below> …

Monklands Railways Office


By order

Glasgow 8th August 1862”

The suffix “E&G” at Bathgate on the Edinburgh line tables is to distinguish from the Monkland station used by the Bo’ness line trains. Trains between Airdrie and Glasgow: from Airdrie Hallcraig at 5.45.pm (the only journey); from Airdrie South at 9.0, 10.0am, 12.40, 7.20pm; from Glasgow: to Hallcraig at 4.20pm (the only journey); to South at 6.0, 11.0am, 12.30, 3.0pm. Note, therefore, that on the Bo’ness line only the 5.35pm from Airdrie had a direct Glasgow connection (dep 4.20pm). The Edinburgh line connections from Glasgow were at 6.0am and 3.0pm respectively; the return connections were 10.0 (due 10.35) am and 7.20 (due 8.10) pm.

The Edinburgh & Glasgow’s working timetables (NAS BR/TT/S/58/6) for both July and August 1862 had the station bank for the Bathgate – Airdrie section added but with no services shown. From 1 September the services shown above were included (plus a 12.0 noon Bathgate – Ratho and 1.20 pm return) with no indication about which railway would work which trains as the working timetables were a replica of the public version. By 1863 some services are shown to require a change at Bathgate, others are through between Airdrie and Edinburgh. From January 1864 Airdrie trains are no longer shown in detail but restored from 1 September 1864, extended to Coatbridge Sunnyside (which had opened 12 November 1863).

Scottish Railway Gazette, 23 August 1862, page 8

From Monkland Railways 29th Ordinary General Meeting: chairman stated: “The passenger traffic on your new Bathgate line [i.e. from Airdrie] was opened on the 11th inst. [August]”

The Airdrie Coatbridge & Wishaw Advertiser during July and August 1862 carried no other references to Bathgate stations.

1864:

Edinburgh & Glasgow (former Wilstontown, Morningside & Coltness Railway) Bathgate extension reopening

Airdrie Coatbridge & Wishaw Advertiser, 17 and 24 September 1864, page 3, advertisement:

“EDINBURGH AND GLASGOW RAILWAY

WILSONTOWN SECTION

The public are informed that, on and after 19th SEPTEMBER, PASSENGER TRAINS will be run on this Section as under, viz.

FROM MORNINGSIDE TO BATHGATE & EDINBURGH


AM
PM

MORNINGSIDE
depart   7.35 
4.10

Blackhall

“
7.46
4.21
<fares also shown>

Crofthead

“
8.0
4.36

Whitburn

“
8.15
4.50

Bathgate
arrive
8.25
5.0

EDINBURGH

“
9.45
6.35  

FROM EDINBURGH & BATHGATE TO MORNINGSIDE




 AM
 PM


EDINBURGH
depart
10.30
3.40

Bathgate

“
11.50
5.35

Whitburn

“
12.0
5.45

Crofthead

“
12.16
6.1

Blackhall

“
12.31
6.16

MORNINGSIDE
arrive
12.40
6.25






BY ORDER

Company’s Office

Glasgow 14 September 1864”

(the paper carried no editorial report or comment)
Nothing found in MT6 or MT29 files prior to the 1864 reopening of this line so presumably the E&G did not think it needed re-inspection.

Edinburgh & Glasgow’s working timetable for 1 October 1864 (NAS BR/TT/S/58/8) shows a slightly different service (intermediate stations were included):




READ DOWN--------
READ UP------------

Edinburgh  dep
1030
1540
1930
0945
1405
1835

Bathgate  arr
1135
1645
2035
0840
1300
1730

                dep
1150
1735

0825

1700

Morningside arr
1240
1825

0735

1610

Bathgate  dep
1145
1715

0820
1135
1705

Coatbridge  arr
1240
1805

0720
1045
1610

The 0840 Bathgate called at Haymarket on Wednesdays only. The balance of the 0720 from Coatbridge was presumably only shown in the Monkland’s working timetable!

1865:

E&G and Monkland merged 31 July, then combined company merged with NBR 1 August. However, no  “suffix” changes were made in the public timetable: E&G station continued without suffix (although it had been suffixed “E&G station” in Monkland timetables), Monkland station retained “Monkland Stn.” suffix until it last appeared in December 1865 issue - from January 1866 issue no suffixes – hence no indication in NBR timetables that the two stations were not one and the same until spring 1870 (although by this stage the Monkland station had only a single morning round trip a day, by a train en route to Bo’ness).
1869:

Bradshaw’s Railway Manual etc. 1923, p.62: the litigious relationship of E&B and NBR (as successor to E&G) companies changed with conclusion of 982 year lease from 31 January 1869

1870:

North British public timetable: Bathgate stations given suffixes “Upper” and “Lower” by (or from) April 1870 issue (NAS BR/TT/S/53/27). Note that suffixes not shewn in January issue (February and March issues missing); suffixes not shewn in working timetable until 1871 (BR/TT/S/52/14A)).

1871:

North British working timetables (BR/TT/S/52/14A): “Upper” and “Lower” suffixes applied. Alterations commencing 1 February 1871: “BATHGATE NEW STATION. At Bathgate (Upper) the Passenger Trains will use the NEW STATION and will cease running to and from the Old Station.”  The running times between Livingstone and Bathgate for Up trains were unchanged but for Down were reduced from 13/14 to 11 mins; between Bathgate and Armadale were reduced from 10/13 to 7 mins for Up trains and from 10 to 8 mins for Down trains. At this date there were three passenger trains daily, with two on the Morningside branch.

Alterations commencing 1 March 1871: “Postponement of opening of the NEW PASSENGER STATION at Upper Bathgate (sic).  The Works at the New Station being not quite completed the Passenger Trains will continue running to and from the Old Station, and will not call at the New Station until further notice. 31 January 1871”.  This text was repeated in April and May issues.

Alterations commencing 1 June 1871: “BATHGATE NEW STATION. At Bathgate (Upper) the Passenger Trains will use the NEW STATION and will cease running to and from the Old Station.”

Advertiser for Airdrie, Coatbridge, Bathgate & Wishaw (3 June 1871, page 2): “BATHGATE: OPENING OF NEW RAILWAY STATION. The new station at Bathgate was opened for traffic on Thursday [i.e. 1 June 1871] but the erection is far too small for a place of so much importance as Bathgate where the traffic is consequently pretty heavy.”

Saturday Falkirk Herald & Linlithgow Journal (3 June 1871, page 3) also carried the news.

1887:

The Bathgate Book (2001) by G.W. Hewitt records that extensive changes were made to Upper station in 1887, when the platform was doubled in length, and extra facilities provided.  

1897:

Note that no curve from Lower to Upper is shown on 1897 OS map.

http://maps.nls.uk/os/25inch-2nd-and-later/view/?jp2=82895322#jp2=82895322&zoom=3&lat=5783&lon=8344&layers=BT
The Scotsman 27 September 1897, in a review of the North British's new timetable from 1 October 1897: 

"The new fork line between Bathgate (Lower) and Bathgate (Upper)  Stations will be opened for passenger traffic, and in connection  therewith direct trains will be run from Coatbridge to Bathgate (Upper)  via Slamannan and the new fork, and also between Manuel and  Bathgate (Upper) via the new fork, thus saving change of carriage at  Blackston Junction and giving connections at Upper Bathgate Station   with trains to and from Edinburgh, Morningside &c." 

Hence the opening date of the “fork line” is Friday 1 October 1897. 

-------

More recent times

Bathgate Lower (the original Monklands station) and branch closed to passengers from 1 May 1930, while the 1871 Upper station closed to passengers from 9 January 1956, with the withdrawal of services between Airdrie and Edinburgh via Bathgate. 

Passenger services were restored between Edinburgh and Bathgate on 24 March 1986. The re-opened BR station is shown on a 1990 (1:10000) plan in exactly the same location as the 1856 map. Observation October 2010: Bathgate 1986 station was opposite Railway Tavern in King (formerly Engine) Street, and had the “forecourt” (as shown in the 1856 map) in use for buses and taxis; it was at the very site of the original station that closed in 1871. 

As a precursor to the restoration of passenger services throughout to Airdire, the 1986 station was closed (last trains Saturday 16 October 2010) and a completely new station opened on Monday 18 October 2010, access to the previous station having been severed on the Sunday while train service was suspended. The new station is more or less at the site of Bathgate East Junction, where the Wilstontown, Morningside & Coltness Railway’s Bathgate extension left the original Edinburgh & Bathgate line.
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(reference to the oldmaps website, which is no longer available, deleted March 2023)
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